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Chairman’s Letter 
 
Dear Shareholder 
 
It is with pleasure that on behalf of the Board of 
Reward Minerals Limited I present to you the Annual 
Report for the year ended 31 December 2013. The 
past year has seen a series of important milestones 
reached by the Company, as we move towards 
bringing our flagship Lake Disappointment Potash 
Project into production.  
 
Lake Disappointment continues to be the Company’s 
primary focus and has been greatly advanced during 
the year. The project now includes a number of new 
contiguous tenements on which the Company has 
recently signed Land Access Agreements with the 
Martu Traditional Owners and obtained Ministerial 
approval for grant.  
 
We have worked diligently on enhancements in the 
processing route for the Lake Disappointment 
Project which are expected to decrease our capital 
and production costs and improve the quality of our 
product.  
 
Extensive metallurgical testing has been completed 
by Reward’s highly experienced consultant 
metallurgist, Geoff Browne. Geoff has run countless 
tests through all stages of the proposed process 
which have ranged from fine tuning the evaporation 
process to potentially remove the requirement for a 
flotation circuit, through to refining the process 
route for the production of the Potassium Sulfate 
end product. 
 
The Company is continually assessing the industry in 
which we work and striving to be fully informed as to 
new innovations, market opportunities and other 
ways to improve our position as a potash player.  
After careful consideration of the available options 
around the Lake Disappointment Project, Reward 
moved to acquire additional exploration areas. The 
Company has increased its tenement holdings to 
over 9,000 square kilometres of highly prospective 
landholdings with the potential to host substantial 
Potash resources. These holdings form the basis for 
the transformation of Reward into a significant 
Potassium Sulfate producer of global significance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
During the year the Talawana Track was upgraded 
from Parngurr and the Lake Disappointment Access 
Road constructed. A base camp has been established 
four kilometres from the northern shore of Lake 
Disappointment. The Company’s Project Director, 
Daniel Tenardi, was instrumental in ensuring the 
effective completion of these important project 
infrastructure items, including providing 
employment for local Martu community members 
who worked on all aspects of the construction. 
 
The Lake Waukarlycarly Project (Karly), which was 
discovered during 2013, has the potential to provide 
the Company with an additional substantial Potash 
resource and development alternative in addition to 
the Lake Disappointment Project. Preliminary 
sampling during the period provided excellent 
results and encouragement for more detailed 
exploration at Karly. We are currently engaging with 
the Martu Traditional Owners and WDLAC, regarding 
an access agreement for the Karly Project allowing 
work to commence in the near future. 
 
Reward strengthened its cash position in October 
through the completion of a $4.8 million rights issue 
to supporting shareholders. This ensured that at 
year end the cash balance was sufficient to 
accelerate activities at all core projects. 
 
During 2013, the Company continued to increase its 
focus on our highly prospective Western Australian 
assets by seeking to divest non-core interests. The 
result of these efforts was effected subsequent to 
year end through the Karinga Creek divestment to 
joint venture partner Rum Jungle Resources Ltd. 
 
On behalf of the Board I would like to take this 
opportunity to thank our shareholders who have 
provided their ongoing support to the Board and 
Management of Reward. We are excited by the 
world-class potential of the prospects the Company 
has identified during the period and we look forward 
to continuing to advance these prospects during 
2014 to the mutual benefit of all stakeholders 
involved. 

 

Colin McCavana 
CHAIRMAN 
31 March 2014 
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Operations Report 
 

Corporate 
 
During the 2013 financial year the Company raised $4.8M through a 1:3 non-renounceable rights issue announced to the 
market on 30 July 2013. By 8 October 2013, 24,124,195 fully paid shares had been subscribed for and as a part of the 
offer 12,062,049 listed options with a 25 cent strike price and 30 June 2016 expiry were also issued to subscribers. 
Reward thanks Blackswan Equities Ltd who acted as Lead Manager to the issue for their assistance with the rights 
issue in what was a tough economic environment to raise money in. 
 
On 18 January 2013, the Company was pleased to welcome Mr Rod Della Vedova to the Board. Mr Della Vedova holds a 
BSc degree in Chemistry and a Post Graduate degree in Chemical Engineering from Curtin University. He has had over 
30 years’ experience in the solar salt industry including 11 years as Chief Chemist at Dampier Salt Ltd (Rio Tinto Ltd) 
followed by 24 years as a Process Superintendent for Dampier Salt Ltd for the Karratha and Port Hedland Salt 
operations. Since his appointment Mr Della Vedova has provided valuable assistance to the Company as it moves 
forward with solar evaporation trials and project evaluation. 
 
On 31 May 2013, Directors Mr Cyrille van Heyst and Mr William Brooks tendered their resignations to the Company. 
Reward thanks Mr van Heyst and Mr Brooks for their long and valuable assistance during their tenure which lead to the 
granting of the Company’s first Indigenous Land Use Agreement (ILUA) with the Martu Traditional Owners for the LD 
Project. 
 

Projects 
 

Karly Province – Western Australia, Potash 
In 2013, as well as advancing its Lake Disappointment (LD) Project, Reward began the process of expanding its portfolio 
of Potash projects to include other highly prospective palaeovalleys and playas throughout the region. This resulted in 
the application for tenements covering Lake Winifred, Lake Dora and the highly prospective region covering the Lake 
Waukarlycarly Embayment. 
 
Figure 1 – Geoscience Australia palaeoriver system interpretation 
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Operations Report 
 
Karly Province – Western Australia, Potash continued 
The new applications are designed to provide coverage over the conductive (EM) palaeochannel and lake systems 
identified in the Geoscience Australia 2010/12 Record (Geoscience Record). The record highlighted what is believed to be 
an extensive palaeoriver system running through LD and extending several hundred kilometres via a number of surface 
playas and ultimately to the Waukarlycarly Embayment. 
 
It is intended that these project areas will provide the Company with a pipeline of Potash projects and a number of 
development options. The individual prospects are discussed in greater detail below. 

 
LD Project – Western Australia, Potash (RWD: 100%) 
The LD Project includes over 4,000km

2
 of a playa lake system in the Little Sandy Desert, northwest, Western Australia. 

It is located approximately 350km east of Newman and accessed by the Talawana Track. 
 
Reward established a maiden JORC Indicated Resource of 24.4 million tonnes (Mt) of Potassium Sulfate (SOP) grading 
12.37kg/m

3 
SOP, to a depth of 4m in LD. The Company executed an ILUA on 23 December 2011 which resulted in the 

grant of key mining tenements require for the development of the LD Project. Required Heritage Surveys we completed 
in March 2012 and the ILUA was officially registered with the Native Title Tribunal in on 21 December 2012. 
 
During 2013 the Company upgraded the Talawana Track, completed the LD access track and established a project camp 
at LD providing a base for regional activities.  
 
Completion of the access track and base camp assisted the progress of environmental survey studies of which stages 
one and two have been completed. 
 
A 10,000 litre pilot evaporation trial using lake brine was conducted with highly encouraging evaporation, recovery and 
harvest grade parameters resulting. The trial ran for 180 days averaging 7-8mm of evaporation per day, 87.5% 
Potassium (K) recovery and provided 983kg of harvest product for ongoing metallurgical testwork programs.  
 
Further evaporation trials during the period were performed in a laboratory environment and demonstrated that K 
recoveries of 80+% can be achieved producing a crude harvest grading around 9% K. Comprehensive trials focussing on 
fine tuning the evaporation pond system operation have accomplished harvest material containing approximately 15% 
Sodium Chloride (NaCl) removing the need for complicated flotation processes during the SOP recovery process. 
 
Substantial metallurgical testwork was performed throughout the year on the conversion of crude Potash (primarily 
Kainite) to Shoenite and leaching of the Shoenite to a final SOP product. Laboratory testwork has demonstrated that the 
Kainite produced in evaporation trials can be readily converted to good grade Schoenite and a high quality SOP.  
 
Figure 2 – Current proposed processing route for LD brine 
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Source: Geoscience Australia – Not representative of actual 
LW embayment 

Figure 3 – Waukarlycarly embayment 

Operations Report 
 
Lake Waukarlycarly (Karly) Project – Western Australia, Potash (RWD: 100%) 
As a part of Reward’s project expansion plans over 3,000km

2
 of tenement applications were lodged with the Department 

of Mines covering the highly prospective Waukarlycarly 
Embayment highlighted in the Geoscience Record. The 
Karly Project is located some 200km north west of LD 
and is approximately 400km from Port Hedland of 
which approximately 350km is bituminised road. 
 
The Geoscience Record Aerial Electromagnetic Survey 
(AEM) of the Paterson Province in Western Australia, 
which included data over the entire embayment, 
indicates highly conductive sediments commencing 
near surface and with a vertical depth of 100 to 200m. 
Limited drilling, primarily targeting gold and copper 
mineralisation, in the area by BHP, Gindalbie Metals, 
Newmont Mining and others has confirmed the 
presence of high density brines in the sediments with 
high brine flows encountered in many of the holes 
drilled. Drilling identified a depth to basement of up to 
150m in some instances. 
 
Preliminary sampling was undertaken during the year 
returned encouraging K values, similar to those which 
make up the current LD resource, which are of sufficiently 
high tenor for the production of Potash in the form of SOP. Several of these samples were recovered from areas where 
the AEM returned high conductivity results at surface thereby supporting a correlation between survey results and K 
content of the near surface brines. 
 
Figure 4 – Karly Project AEM traverses and brine sample results 

 
 
The Company is currently negotiating with Martu Traditional Owners regarding grant of a number of tenements making 
up the Karly Project which will allow an extensive exploration program to be undertaken during 2014. The aim is to 
establish if Potash mineralisation identified during preliminary sampling translates into a significant resource base. 

Refer to announcement dated 10 December 2013 for full details of results 
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Operations Report 
 
Regional Karly Projects - Western Australia, Potash (RWD: 100%) 
Other highly prospective tenements acquired as a part of the Company’s project pipeline expansion included Lake Dora 
and Lake Winifred which were also identified through the review of the Geoscience Record survey. 
 

Preliminary auger sampling has been completed at most of these prospects and included Lake Auld. K bearing brines 
were retrieved at four lake sites. Of particular interest were the K grades returned at Lake Auld which in some instances 
were up to three times of those at LD. However this Project is comparatively isolated and will be retained for a later 
development stage. 
 

Figure 5 – Preliminary auger sampling results 

 
 
 
Following brine analyses and consideration of various development factors the Company intends to focus its efforts on 
its flagship LD Project and the Karly Project while continuing to perform highly targeted exploration on the other 
regional projects. 
 

Officer Basin (Connolly) Project - Western Australia, Potash (RWD: 100%) 
Reward holds four Exploration Licences covering approximately 800km

2
 in the Gibson Desert region of Western 

Australia. The tenements cover areas of Officer Basin stratigraphy believed to be underlain by substantial evaporite 
horizons where the focus is on Potash mineralisation. 
 
The Officer Basin tenements lie within the Martu Determination Area. The Company recently executed a Land Access 
Agreement with WDLAC covering three exploration licences which have now been granted for activities to commence 
following Heritage Survey clearance. 
 

The tenements are located in a region where extensive evaporite (salt) flows have occurred resulting in typical circular 
diapiric structures and also linear salt walls which cover considerable distances.  The prospect area includes the 
geological feature interpreted as the Connolly Meteor impact crater. 
 

While exploration data is limited for this remote area, the exploration model is supported by a number of seismic lines 
and oil exploration holes drilled south of the tenement area. While no Potash has been recorded in the evaporites 
intersected in the (Hussar and Dragoon) exploration holes, a large number of targets, both salt wall and diapiric 
structures, appear as exciting prospects warranting exploration. 

Refer to announcement dated 10 December 2013 for full details of results 
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Operations Report 
 
Lake Mackay Project - Western Australia, Potash (RWD: 100%) 
 
Lake Mackay, located in the Gibson Desert on the Western Australian-Northern Territory border, bears many similarities 
to the LD Project being a modern playa lake but with a somewhat larger surface area of over 2,250km

2
.  

 
In 2009, following Ministerial approval to enter the Tjamu-Tjamu lands which cover Lake Mackay, 24 shallow holes to 
test the lakebed sediments were completed during September 2009 (Figure 6).  
 

Figure 6 - Tenement and Drill Hole Location Plan – Lake MacKay, WA 

 
 
Brines which were recovered from 22 holes were submitted for analysis. The SOP content of the brine samples 
recovered from drilling of Lake Mackay were reasonably consistent in composition ranging from 5.73kg/m

3
 to 

8.15kg/m
3
 with an average value of 6.83kg of SOP per cubic metre of brine (non-weighted average). 

 
The brine entrained in the lakebed sediments of Lake Mackay in September 2009 was under-saturated at the time of 
drilling – with an average Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) content of 248 grams per litre (specific gravity 1.19). Saturation 
TDS levels for brines of the composition observed for Lake Mackay are in excess of 300 grams of dissolved salts per 
litre of brine. While the SOP grade in Lake Mackay brine was considerably lower than LD in 2009, the ratios of K : Mg : 
SO4 are similar to LD brine and hence should be suitable for the production of Schoenite and SOP upon evaporation. 
 
From drilling completed Reward delineated a JORC compliant Inferred SOP Resource at Lake Mackay of 20.56Mt 
contained within 4,780,400,000 BCM from surface to a depth of 2m.  
 
Further development at the Project will involve infill drilling, construction of pilot ponds and pump testing as well as flow 
sheet development for the preparation of a feasibility study. 
 
Prior to committing to this phase the Company needs to reach agreement with Tjamu Tjamu people and other 
Traditional Owner groups on terms which would be acceptable for development to proceed at Lake Mackay in the event 
feasibility analysis is proved favourable. 
 
While it is the understanding of Reward that the majority of the Native Title Holders are in favour of development of the 
Lake Mackay project, no satisfactory commercial agreement has been forthcoming to date. 
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Operations Report 
 
Adavale Basin Project - Queensland, Potash (RWD: 100%) 
The area held by Reward for its Adavale Project covers 790km

2
 of granted tenements within the Adavale Basin in 

Queensland, Australia. The area covers an elongate northeast-trending structure west of the Warrego Fault and 
contains Bury 1 and Stafford 1 oil exploration wells.  
 
In Bury 1 the top of the salt horizon was at a depth of 1,770m and a salt thickness of 580m. Minor Potash mineralisation 
was encountered in Bury 1 between 1,810m – 1,811m and 1,968m – 1,971m depths with K values up to 4% observed in 
thin layers of approximately 15cm within these intervals. Much of the evaporate horizon was not analysed for K. 
 
It has been interpreted from seismic surveys that the evaporate horizon is up to 900m thick, coming to within 900m of 
surface in some areas. 
 
The exploration strategy is to drill several 1,500m to 2,000m holes to intersect the uplifted salt horizon to ascertain the 
concentration and extent of Potash mineralisation within the unit. 
 
The project area is near the coal mining site of Blackall, 600km inland from Gladstone. In addition to the Potash 
potential, the Adavale deposits could readily provide salt for the manufacture of caustic soda which is utilised in 
substantial quantities at the Gladstone Alumina operations of Comalco Ltd. Data available suggests that annual imports 
of caustic soda to Gladstone are in the order of 1.5Mt costing in excess of $500 million. 
 

Karinga Creek – Northern Territory, Potash (RWD: 100%) 
The Karinga Creek Potash Joint Venture between Rum Jungle Resources Ltd (RUM) and Reward includes six granted 
exploration licences for 2,310km

2
 along the Lasseter Highway between Alice Springs and Uluru. The Joint Venture is 

exploring for SOP and Shoenite in sub-surface lake brine in up to 26 dry salt lakes on pastoral leases adjacent to the 
Lasseter Highway. 
 
RUM is the operator, sole risk funding and increasing equity. The Karinga Creek Project had exploration expenditure of 
approximately $1.5 million in 2013 which resulted in Reward holding an approximate 15% stake in the Joint Venture. 
 
Subsequent to the financial year, on 20 February 2014, Reward reached and agreement with RUM to relinquish its 
interest in the Joint Venture for consideration of $140,000 plus four million ordinary shares in RUM. 
 

Competent Persons Statement 
Reward Minerals Ltd advise that resource parameters provided in this report relating to the Lake Disappointment 
Project and Lake Mackay Project are based on information compiled by Mr Simon Coxhell of CoxsRocks who is a 
Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and is a technical consultant to Reward Minerals Ltd. This 
information was prepared and first disclosed under the JORC Code 2004. It has not been updated since to comply with 
the JORC Code 2012 on the basis that the information has not materially changed since it was last reported. Mr Coxhell 
has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation, type of deposit under consideration and to the 
activity that he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 edition of the ‘Australasian Code 
for Reporting of Exploration, Results, Mineral Resource and Ore Reserves’. Mr Coxhell consents to the inclusion in this 
presentation of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which they appear. 
  
The information in this report that relates to exploration targets and exploration results for the Lake Disappointment 
and Karly Projects is based on information compiled by Mr David O’Farrell, a Competent Person who is a Member of the 
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. This information was prepared and first disclosed under the JORC Code 
2004. It has not been updated since to comply with the JORC Code 2012 on the basis that the information has not 
materially changed since it was last reported. Mr O’Farrell of Bralich Holdings is a consultant to Reward Minerals Ltd. Mr 
O’Farrell has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralization and type of deposit under consideration 
and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the ‘Australasian 
Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Mr O’Farrell consents to the inclusion 
in the report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 
 
  



 
 

REWARD MINERALS LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2013 

9 

 

Tenement Schedule as at 31 December 2013 

Prospect Area Tenement Area RWD Equity 
Registered 
Holder/Applicant 

Officer Basin, WA EL69/1928 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL45/2599 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL45/2600 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)69/3244 48 blocks 100% HOL 

     

Lake Disappointment, WA EL45/2801 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL45/2802 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL45/2803 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL45/2804 62 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL69/2156 53 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL69/2157 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL69/2158 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL69/2159 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL45/3285 200 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL45/3286 200 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL45/4090 56 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL45/4121 47 blocks 100% HOL 

 ML45/1227 3,469 ha 100% HOL 

 L45/302 3,258 ha 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4257 37 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4258 56 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4259 177 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4272 181 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)69/2902 198 blocks 100% HOL 

     

Lake Waukarlycarly, WA EL45/3246 97 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4273 198 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4274 118 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4291 98 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4292 133 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4293 194 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4294 128 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4299 64 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4321 165 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/4324 195 blocks 100% HOL 

     

Lake Mackay, WA EL80/3748 86 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL80/3749 200 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL80/3750 200 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL80/3751 195 blocks 100% HOL 

     

Tamala, WA EL(A)09/1185 70 blocks 100% TYS 

     

Lake Amadeus, NT EL24987 132 blocks 100% RUM  

 EL25080 225 blocks 100% TYS  

 EL28205 39 blocks 50% RWD/RUM 

 EL28272 74 blocks 50% RWD/RUM 

 EL28273 56 blocks 50% RWD/RUM 

 EL(A)25081 61 blocks 100% TYS 

     

Adavale, QLD EPM16409 95 blocks 100% HOL 

 EPM16410 96 blocks 100% HOL 

 EPM16413 91 blocks 100% HOL 
 

RWD Reward Minerals Ltd TYS Tyson Resources Pty Ltd 
HOL Holocene Pty Ltd  RUM     Rum Jungle Resources Ltd 
EL Exploration Licence EL(A) Application for Exploration Licence 
EPM Exploration Permit for Minerals ML Mining Lease 
L Miscellaneous Licence  
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Directors’ Report 
Your Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the financial statements of the consolidated entity 
(hereafter referred to as the Group) for the year ended 31 December 2013 and the auditor’s report thereon. 
 

Directors 
The names of the Directors of Reward Minerals Ltd during the financial year and to the date of this report are: 
 
Colin McCavana (Chairman) 
Michael Ruane (Executive Director) 
Cyrille J Van Heyst – resigned 31 May 2013 
William P Brooks – resigned 31 May 2013 
Rod Della Vedova - appointed 16 January 2013 
 
Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.  
 

Corporate Information 
Reward Minerals Ltd is a Company limited by shares and is domiciled in Australia. 
 

Principal Activities 
During the year the Group was involved in mineral exploration.  
 

Results of Operations 
The net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 was Loss $731,773 (2012: Loss $719,736). 
 

Dividends 
No dividends were paid or declared since the end of the previous year.  The Directors do not recommend the payment of 
a dividend. 
 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 
There were no significant changes to the state of the consolidated entity’s affairs during the year. 
 

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year 
On 26 February 2014, the Company completed a placement of 10,416,666 ordinary shares at 48 cents per share to raise 
$5,000,000 for working capital. 
 
On 20 February 2014 the Company agreed to the sale of its interest in the Karinga Creek Joint Venture, between Reward 
and Rum Jungle Resources Pty Ltd, for $140,000 plus four million ordinary Rum Jungle Resources shares (ASX:RUM). 
 
At the date of this report there are no other matters or circumstances which have arisen since 31 December 2013 that 
has significantly affected or may significantly affect: 
 
(i) the operations of the Group; 

 
(ii) the results of its operations; or 

 
(iii) the state of affairs of the Group subsequent to 31 December 2013. 

 
Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations 
Further information on the likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of operations 
has been included in the Operations Report.    
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Directors’ Report 
Directors Information  
Non Executive Director and Chairman – Colin McCavana (appointed 24 February 2010 and Chairman on 30 
November 2010) 
Mr McCavana has over 30 years experience in mining and earthmoving industries, including the management, 
acquisition, exploration and development of projects in Australia, USA, Tanzania, Mozambique and Indonesia. 
 

Directorships held in other listed companies in the past 3 years:  
Northern Minerals Ltd, Director, appointed 22 June 2006 
 

Managing Director – Dr Michael Ruane PhD MRACI (appointed 02 December 2004) 
Dr Ruane holds a PhD in Chemistry and has over 30 years experience as a Technical Consultant in the chemical and 
metallurgical fields.   
 

Directorships held in other listed companies in the past 3 years: 
- Intermin Resources Ltd, Director, appointed 29 May 1998 
- Metaliko Resources Ltd, Director, appointed 28 June 2012 
 

Non Executive Director - Cyrille J van Heyst, B.Ec. (appointed 26 March 2003, resigned 31 May 2013) 
Mr Van Heyst has many years of experience in devising and implementing strategies in takeovers and acquisition.  Mr 
Van Heyst has over 40 years experience as a Director of numerous listed companies.   
 

Directorships held in other listed companies in the past 3 years: 
- Nil 
 

Non Executive Director - William Paul Brooks (appointed 26 March 2003, resigned 31 May 2013) 
Mr Brooks has been involved in the exploration and mining industry for over 30 years and has extensive industry 
knowledge and contacts in the mineral industry.   
 

Directorships held in other listed companies in the past 3 years: 
- Azure Healthcare Ltd, Director, appointed 26 October 2011 
 

Non Executive Director – Rod Della Vedova, B.Sc. (appointed 16 January 2013) 
Mr Della Vedova holds a post graduate degree in Chemical Engineering and has over 30 years experience in large scale 
commercial production of salt by solar evaporation techniques. 
 

Directorships held in other listed companies in the past 3 years: 
- Nil 
 

Company Secretary 
Ms Taveira was appointed as Company Secretary on 15 April 2010.  Ms Taveira has been providing administration and 
secretarial services to many listed and unlisted public companies for over a decade.  
 
Mr Ross Paterson was appointed Joint Company Secretary on 9 March 2011 and resigned 10 January 2013. 
 

 Ordinary Shares as at the date of this report Listed Options as at the date of this report 
 Direct Indirect Direct Indirect 
Directors Interest Interest Interest Interest 

Colin McCavana 279,999 26,666 34,999 3,333 
*Michael Ruane 157,333 28,092,143 19,666 3,413,921 
Rod Della Vedova 20,000 - - - 

* Michael Ruane is the Director of Tyson Resources Pty Ltd, Kesli Chemicals Pty Ltd and Heartlink Ltd.  Michael Ruane is 
also a Director of Intermin Resources Ltd which holds an additional 7,629,257 shares and 953,657 Listed Options in the 
Company.   
 

 Unlisted Options as at the date of this report  
 Direct Indirect 
Directors Interest Interest 

Colin McCavana 750,000 - 
Michael Ruane - - 
Rod Della Vedova - - 
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Directors’ Report 
Shares under Option 
Unissued ordinary shares of Reward Minerals Ltd under option as at the date of this report are as follows:  
 

Nature Expiry Date Exercise Price of 
Options 

Number under 
Option 

Directors 31 August 2014 $0.50 2,150,000 
Azure – Tranche 1 5 January 2016 $0.45 3,000,000 
Azure – Tranche 2 10 October 2016 $0.45 2,000,000 
Employee 8 October 2015 $1.09 500,000 
Martu Mining 28 February 2017 $0.50 4,500,000 
Listed Options 30 June 2016 $0.25 14,341,548 

   26,491,548 
 

The Group issued 4,500,000 options to Martu Mining Services Limited on 28 February 2013 as per the Mining and 
Indigenous Land Use Agreement, entered into on 23 December 2011.  These options expire on 28 February 2017 and are 
exercisable at $0.50. 
 

During year ended 31 December 2013, a total of 14,341,548 free attaching options were issued as the result of the rights 
issue.  The options are exercisable on 30 June 2016 at $0.25 each. 
 

Option holders do not have any rights to participate in any issues of shares or other interests in the Company or any 
other entity.  
 

There have been no unissued shares or interests under option of any controlled entity within the Group during or since 
the end of the reporting period.  
 

No person entitled to exercise the option had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of 
any other body corporate.  
 

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers 
During the financial year, the Group maintained an insurance policy which indemnifies the Directors and Officers of 
Reward Minerals Ltd in respect of any liability incurred in connection with the performance of their duties as Directors or 
Officers of the Group.  The Directors made a personal contribution toward the premium to satisfy Section 199B of the 
Corporations Act 2001.  The Group's insurers have prohibited disclosure of the amount of the premium payable and the 
level of indemnification under the insurance contract. 
 

Directors’ Meetings 
The number of directors’ meetings attended by each of the Directors of the Group during the year were: 
 

 No. of Meetings  No. of Meetings 
Director  while in office attended  

Colin McCavana  3 3 
Michael Ruane  3 3 
Cyrille J Van Heyst  2 1 
William P Brooks  2 2 
Rod Della Vedova  3 3 
 

Environmental Issues 
The Group’s exploration and mining operations are subject to environment regulation under the law of the 
Commonwealth and the States.  The Group holds exploration/mining tenements in Western Australia, the Northern 
Territory and Queensland thus is subject to the Mining Acts of these states each with specific conditions relating to 
environmental management.  In some instances bonds may be held by the Group’s bank in favour of the Minister for 
Mines to be released to the Group when the Minister is satisfied that conditions imposed on tenement licences have 
been met.  In some jurisdictions Cash Bonds must be lodged with the relevant Department until conditions are fulfilled.  
There are no bonds currently in place in respect of the Group’s tenement holdings. 
 

The Directors advise that during the year ended 31 December 2013, no claim has been made by any competent authority 
that any environmental issues, condition of license or notice of intent has been breached, and no claim has been made 
for increase of bond. 
 

The Directors have considered compliance with the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 which requires 
entities to report annual greenhouse gas emissions and energy use. For the measurement period 1 January 2013 to 31 
December 2013 the Directors have assessed that there are no current reporting requirements but may be required to do 
so in the future. 
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Directors’ Report 
Remuneration Report (Audited) 
The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 300A of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 
 
A Principles Used to Determine Amount and Nature of Remuneration 
All remuneration paid to Directors and Executives is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed. Shares given to 
Directors and Executives are valued as the difference between the market price of those shares and the amount paid by 
the Director or Executive. Options are valued using the Black-Scholes or Binomial methodologies. 
 
The board policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, 
commitment and responsibilities. The board determines payments to the Non-Executive Directors and reviews their 
remuneration annually based on market practice, duties and accountability. Independent external advice is sought when 
required. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to Non-Executive Directors is subject to approval by 
shareholders at the annual general meeting (currently $150,000). Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not linked to the 
performance of the Group. However, to align Directors’ interests with shareholder interests, the Directors are 
encouraged to hold shares in the Group and are able to participate in employee option plans. 
 
The objective of the Group’s executive reward framework is set to attract and retain the most qualified and experienced 
Directors and Senior Executives. The board ensures that executive reward satisfies the following criteria for good 
reward governance practices: 

 

 competitiveness and reasonableness  
 acceptability to shareholders 
 transparency  
 capital management 

 
Directors’ Fees 
A Director may be paid fees or other amounts as the Directors determine where a Director performs special duties or 
otherwise performs services outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director. A Director may also be reimbursed 
for out of pocket expenses incurred as a result of their directorship or any special duties. 
 

Performance Based Remuneration 
To align the interests of key management personnel with the long term objectives of the Group and its shareholders, the 
Group’s policy, having regard to the stage of development of its assets, is to issue share options at the complete 
discretion of the Board, subject to shareholder approval for Directors. The issue of share options as remuneration 
represents cost effective consideration to Directors and key management personnel for their commitment and 
contribution to the Group and are used as a strategic tool to recruit and retain high calibre personnel.   
 
The Group has no other performance based remuneration component built into Director and Executive remuneration 
packages, as the Company is in a loss position.  The Directors do not see any appropriate indicators to base 
performance on. 
 
Company Performance, Shareholder Wealth and Directors’ and Executives’ Remuneration 
The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between Shareholders, Directors and 
Executives. This is facilitated through the issue of options or performance rights to Directors and Executives to 
encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests. The Group believes this policy will be effective in 
increasing shareholder wealth. 
 
Voting and comments made at the Group’s 2012 Annual General Meeting 
 
The approval of the remuneration report was passed as indicated in the results of annual general meeting dated 31 May 
2013. The Group did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year on its remuneration practices.  
 
The Group received 99% of “yes” votes on its resolutions to re-elect Mr Colin McCavana as Director and elect Mr Rod 
Della Vedova as Director. 
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Directors’ Report 

B   Details of Remuneration of Key Management Personnel of the Group 
The key management personnel of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 are the Directors and Project 
Director (who was appointed in February 2012). 
 
Details of the nature and amount of each element of remuneration of each Director and key management personnel of 
the Group for the financial year are as follows:- 
 

2013 Short Term     

Name 
Consulting 

Fees 
$ 

Salary 
 

$ 

Directors’ 
Fee 
$ 

Post Employment 
Superannuation 

$ 

Share-based 
Payments 
Options 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 

% of 
remuneration 
consisting of 

Options 

Directors        

Colin McCavana - - 36,000 - - 36,000 - 

Michael Ruane - - 58,500 - - 58,500 - 

Rod Della Vedova - - 28,804 - - 28,804 - 

Cyrille Van Heyst - - 12,500 - - 12,500 - 

William Brooks - - - 10,000 - 10,000 - 

        

Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

       

Daniel Tenardi – 
Project Director 

 

- 

 

270,000 

 

- 

 

24,637 

 

- 

 

294,637 

 

- 

 - 270,000 135,804 34,637 - 440,441  

 
2012 Short Term     

Name 

Consulting 
Fees 

$ 

Salary 
 

$ 

Directors’ 
Fee 
$ 

Post Employment 
Superannuation 

$ 

Share-based 
Payments 
Options 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 

% of 
remuneration 
consisting of 

Options 

Directors        

Colin McCavana - - 36,000 - - 36,000 - 

Michael Ruane - - 123,000 - - 123,000 - 

Cyrille Van Heyst - - 30,000 - - 30,000 - 

William Brooks - - - 29,318 - 29,318 - 

        

Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

       

Daniel Tenardi – 
Project Director 

- 233,654 - 21,029 225,000 479,683 52% 

 - 233,654 189,000 50,347 225,000 698,001  

 
There were no termination benefits paid during the year to any Director or key management personnel. 
 
C Share-Based Compensation 
Year ended 31 December 2013 
There were no share-based compensation transactions during the year. 
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Directors’ Report 

C Share-Based Compensation continued 
Year ended 31 December 2012 
Daniel Tenardi was issued options by Reward Minerals Ltd as part of his employment agreement.  The options issued 
are linked to future performance of the Group.  The fair value of the incentive options is $225,000 as determined using 
the Black-Scholes valuation methodology.  This amount is to be amortised over the respective vesting periods. An 
amount of $225,000 is included in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income and Statement of 
Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2012.  
 

Grant Date 

No of 
Options 
Granted Vesting Date Expiry Date 

Exercise 
Price 

Value 
per 

option at 
Grant 
Date Vested 

Total 
Value of 
Options 

2012 
Vested 

Value of 
Options 

10 October 
2012 

500,000 
10 October 

2012 
8 October 

2015 
$1.09 $0.45 100% $225,000 $225,000 

 
The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted to the individuals is allocated equally over the period from grant 
date to vesting date, and the amount is included in the remuneration tables above.  Fair values at grant date are 
independently determined using a Black & Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the 
term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying 
share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. 
 
D Service Contracts 
Directors are not employed under written contracts. Directors may be paid consulting fees at commercial rates 
calculated according to the amount of time spent on Group business. All Directors may receive consulting fees on an 
hourly basis which are paid from time to time for specialist services beyond normal duties.   No Directors have received 
loans from the Group during the annual period. 
 
Mr Daniel Tenardi, the Project Director, was appointed on 13 February 2012. His contract has no fixed term, and 
provides for a remuneration of $270,000 plus statutory superannuation. No termination benefits are included in the 
contract. In addition, Mr Tenardi is entitled to share options as detailed in Note C to this remuneration report.  
 
[End of remuneration report] 
 
Proceedings on Behalf of Company 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervened in any proceedings to 
which the Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or any part of those 
proceedings.  The Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 
 
Non-Audit Services 
The auditors have not provided any non-audit services to the Group in the current or prior financial years. 
 
Auditors Independence Declaration 
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors have obtained a Declaration of Independence 
from Rothsay Chartered Accountants, the Group’s auditors, as presented on page 22 of this Annual Financial Report.  
 
Dated this 31st day of March 2014 in accordance with a resolution of the Directors and signed for on behalf of the Board 
by: 

 

 
Michael Ruane, Director  
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Corporate Governance Statement 
Corporate governance is a matter of high importance in the Group and is undertaken with due regard to all of the 
Group’s stakeholders and its role in the community.  A description of the Group’s corporate governance practices is set 
out below.  Unless otherwise stated, all these practices were in place for the entire year.  
 

Principle 1 Lay Solid Foundations for Management and Oversight 
Recommendation 1.1 Entity has established the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to senior 

executives  
 

Disclosure 
The Group is directly managed by the Board, through the Executive Director, contractors are used to perform functions 
as required.   
 

Directors of the Group are required to act honestly, transparently, diligently, independently, and in the best interests of 
all shareholders with the objective of increasing shareholder value. 
 

The Group operates in a framework to: 
 

 Enable the Board to provide strategic guidance for the Group and effective oversight of contractors; 
 Clarify the respective roles and responsibilities of Board members in order to facilitate Board accountability to the 

Group and shareholders; 
 Ensure a balance of authority so that no single individual has unfettered powers. 

 

Recommendation 1.2 Entity has disclosed its process for evaluating the performance of senior executives 
 

Disclosure 
The performance of non-executive directors is reviewed by the Chairman on an ongoing basis.  Any Director whose 
performance is considered unsatisfactory is asked to resign. 
 

Principle 2 Structure the Board to Add Value 
Recommendation 2.1 A majority of the Board are independent directors 
 

Disclosure 
Two of the non executive directors are deemed to be independent due to what is considered to be low shareholdings. 
 

One of the Directors, Dr Michael Ruane is considered not to be independent due to the substantial holdings that 
companies associated with him have in the Group.  This is not a disadvantage to the Group.  The Group’s well being is of 
primary interest to Dr Ruane and his skill and experience is necessary to the Group. 
 

As part of the Company’s Constitution the Board: 
 

 should comprise between 3 and 8 Directors; 
 at least half of the Board should be non-executive Directors; 
 the Chairman should be a non-executive Director; 
 on appointment, Directors should desirably be able to serve a minimum of three years before retirement; and 
 the Board should comprise Directors with a broad range of skills and experience. 

 

At the date of signing the Directors’ Report the Board consisted of one executive director and two non-executive 
directors.  Details of the Directors are set out in the Directors’ Report under the heading “Directors Information.” 
 

Directors are initially appointed by the full Board, subject to election by shareholders at the next general meeting of 
shareholders, and re-election at three-yearly intervals. 
 

Disclosure 
The most significant responsibilities and functions of the Board are: 
 Development of corporate strategy and performance objectives; 
 Approving and monitoring the progress of major capital expenditure, capital management and monitoring of the 

results; 
 Oversight of the Group, including reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management and internal compliance 

and control, codes of conduct, and legal compliance; 
 Approving and monitoring financial and other reporting; 
 Monitoring and influencing the culture, reputation and ethical standards of the Group; 
 Monitoring the Board composition, director selection and Board processes and performance; 
 Approving key executive appointments; 
 Reviewing and approving executive remuneration.  
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Corporate Governance Statement 
Principle 2 Structure the Board to Add Value continued 
Recommendation 2.1 A majority of the Board are independent directors continued 

 

The Directors are expected to attend all meetings of the Board. The frequency of Board meetings and Directors’ 
attendance at those meetings is set out in the Directors’ Report.  Directors are expected to adequately prepare for 
meetings and attend and participate at Board meetings.  
 

Recommendation 2.2 The Chair is an independent director 
 

Disclosure 

The independent Chair of the Board is Colin McCavana.  
 

Recommendation 2.3 The roles of Chair and CEO are not exercised by the same individual 
 

Disclosure 
The role of the Chairman (Colin McCavana) and the CEO (Michael Ruane) are not exercised by the same individual.  
 

Recommendation 2.4 The Board has established a nomination committee 
 

Disclosure 
Principle 2 has not been fully complied with as a nomination committee has not been established. The role of the 
nomination committee has been assumed by the full Board instead. 
 

Recommendation 2.5 Entity has disclosed the process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its committees and 
individual directors. 
 

Disclosure 
The Board has a process to review and evaluate the performance of the Board. The process involves consideration of all 
of the Board’s key areas of responsibility.  The Board of Directors have responsibility for the overall corporate 
governance of the Group and for protecting the rights and interests of the stakeholders in the Group.   
 

Principle 3 Promote Ethical and Responsible Decision Making 
Recommendation 3.1 Entity has established a code of conduct and disclosed the code or a summary of the code 
 

Disclosure 
The Group is committed to maintaining appropriate standards of ethical behaviour required of Group Directors and key 
executives (that is, officers and employees who have the opportunity to materially influence the integrity, strategy and 
operation of the business and its financial performance) and encourage the observance of those standards. 
 

The Board supports the following Code of Conduct issued by the Australian Institute of Company Directors: 
 

 A Director must act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Group as a whole; 
 A Director has a duty to use due care and diligence in fulfilling the functions of office and exercising the powers 

attached to that office; 
 A Director must use the powers of office for a proper purpose, in the best interests of the Group as a whole; 
 A Director must recognise that the primary responsibility is to the Company’s shareholders as a whole but 

should, where appropriate, have regard for the interests of all stakeholders of the Group; 
 A Director must not make improper use of information acquired as a Director; 
 A Director must not take improper advantage of the position of Director; 
 A Director must not allow personal interests, or the interests of any associated person, to conflict with the 

interests of the Group; 
 A Director has an obligation to be independent in judgement and actions and to take all reasonable steps to be 

satisfied as to the soundness of all decisions taken by the Board of Directors; 
 Confidential information received by a Director in the course of the exercise of directorial duties remains the 

property of the Group from which it was obtained and it is improper to disclose it, or allow it to be disclosed, 
unless that disclosure has been authorised by that Group, or the person from whom the information is provided, 
or is required by law; 

 A Director should not engage in conduct likely to bring discredit upon the Group; 
 A Director has an obligation, at all times, to comply with the spirit, as well as the letter, of the law and with the 

principles of this Code. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
Principle 3 Promote Ethical and Responsible Decision Making continued 
Recommendation 3.2 Entity has established a policy concerning diversity and disclosed the policy or a summary of that 
policy 
Recommendation 3.3 Entity has disclosed in its annual report the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity 
set by the board in accordance with the diversity policy and progress towards achieving them 
 

Disclosure 
The Group values diversity and recognises the benefits it can bring to the organisation’s ability to achieve its goals.  
However due to the small size of the Group, the Group has not developed a formal diversity policy.  
 

Recommendation 3.4 Entity has disclosed in its annual report the proportion of women employees in the whole 
organisation, women in senior executive positions and women on the board 
 

Disclosure 
The Group embraces diversity, with a focus on female participation. Diversity is not limited to gender, age, ethnicity 
and/or cultural backgrounds.  
 
As at March 2014, the proportion of women employed in the Group was: 

 All employees – 50% 
 In management positions – 50% 
 In senior executive positions – Nil% 
 Board – Nil%  

 

Principle 4 Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting 
Recommendation 4.1 The Board has established an audit committee 
Recommendation 4.2 The Audit Committee has been structured 
Recommendation 4.3 The Audit Committee has a formal charter 
 

Disclosure 
The Group currently does not have an Audit Committee, as matters which would normally be considered by such a 
committee come under the review of the entire Board. 
 

The Group has in place a structure of review and authorisation designed to ensure the truthful and factual presentation 
of the Group’s financial position. The structure includes: 
 

 The annual Directors Declaration can only be signed, after the receipt by the Board, of a declaration in writing, by 
the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary; 

 A process to ensure the independence and competence of the Group’s external auditors. 
 

The Board believe that the Group is not of a size nor are its financial affairs of such complexity to justify the formation of 
an audit committee.  The Board as a whole undertakes the functions associated with an audit committee. 
 

Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer to Write to the Board 
The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary are required to state in writing to the 
Board that the Group’s financial reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Group’s financial 
condition and operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards. 
 

Declaration in writing by the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary that: 
 

 The financial records of the Group for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with section 
286 of the Corporations Act; 

 The financial statements and accompanying notes, for the financial year, comply with the applicable accounting 
standards; 

 The financial statements and accompanying notes give a true and fair view; 
 Any other matter prescribed by regulations. 

 

The Annual Directors Declaration can only be signed after the receipt by the Board of a Declaration in writing, by the 
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary. The Directors’ Declaration will state that the 
Directors have been given a declaration required by section 295A. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
Principle 4 Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting continued 
Recommendation 4.1 The Board has established an audit committee continued 
Recommendation 4.2 The Audit Committee has been structured continued 
Recommendation 4.3 The Audit Committee has a formal charter continued 
 

Directors Report – Management Discussion and Analysis 
The Directors’ Report will include information that the members would reasonably require to make an informed 
assessment of: 

 

 The operations of the Group; 
 The financial position of the Group; 
 The Group’s business strategies and prospects for future years. 

 

Information may be omitted if it is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. If information is omitted, the 
Directors Report will state this. 
 

Related Party Transactions 
Disclosure of all related party transactions, if any, is made in the annual report.  All Directors are required to disclose to 
the Board any other Board appointments, contracts or other interests, which may give rise to a conflict with the 
interests of the Group.  When a potential conflict of interest arises, the Director concerned does not receive copies of the 
relevant Board papers and withdraws from the Board meeting while such matters are considered.  Accordingly, the 
Director concerned takes no part in discussions nor exercises any influence over other members of the Board if a 
potential conflict of interest exists. 
 

Principle 5 Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure 
Recommendation 5.1 Entity has established written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule 
disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at senior executive level for that compliance and disclose those 
policies or a summary of those policies 
 

Disclosure 
The Group supports the continuous disclosure policy set out in the Australian Stock Exchange Listing Rules to ensure 
that: 

 

 All investors have equal and timely access to material information concerning the Group, including its financial 
situation, performance, ownership and governance; 

 Group announcements are factual and presented in a clear and balanced way. 
 

Communication with Shareholders 
All Group announcements are subject to appropriate vetting and authorisation to ensure that Group announcements: 

 

 Are made in a timely manner; 
 Are factual; 
 Do not omit material information; 
 Are expressed in a clear and objective manner that allows investors to assess the impact of the information when 

making investment decisions. 
 

Informing the Market 
The Board’s policy is that shareholders are informed of all major developments that are price sensitive, regardless of 
whether the information is good news or bad news. 
 
Continuous Disclosure 
The Managing Director is the nominated Australian Stock Exchange Communication Officer and is responsible for 
ensuring that the Group complies with its continuous disclosure requirements. 

 
The Managing Director is responsible for overseeing and coordinating the disclosure of information to the stock 
exchange, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and the public. 
 
The Group’s compliance with its continuous disclosure obligations is reviewed at each meeting of the Board of Directors. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
Principle 6 Respect the Rights of Shareholders 
Recommendation 6.1 Entity has a communications policy for promoting effective communication with shareholders 
and encouraging their participation at general meetings and disclosed the policy or a summary of the policy 
 

Disclosure 
Principle 6 has not been complied with, the Group does not have a published Communications Policy.  The Group 
communicates with shareholders in an open and timely manner so that the market has sufficient information to make 
informed investment decisions on the operations and results of the Group.  Shareholders are encouraged to submit 
questions at general meetings and also to participate in discussions with the Board at the meetings. 
 

Restrictions on Share Dealings by Directors 
Directors are subject to the Corporations Act 2001 restrictions on applying for, acquiring and disposing of securities in, 
or other relevant financial products of, the Company (or procuring another person to do so), if they are in possession of 
inside information. Inside information is that information which is not generally available, and which if it were generally 
available, a reasonable person would expect it to have a material effect on the price or value of the securities in, or other 
relevant financial products of, the Company. 
 

The Board does not place any restrictions on the Directors or staff in trading in the Company’s shares other than that no 
trading is to take place unless all information which is price sensitive is first released to the market.  It is the Board’s 
policy to keep the market informed at all times. 
 

Principle 7 Recognise and Manage Risk 
Recommendation 7.1 Entity has established policies for the oversight and management of material business risks and 
disclosed a summary of those policies 
Recommendation 7.2 Board requires management to design and implement the risk management and internal control 
system to manage the entity’s material business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being managed 
effectively.  The Board has disclosed that management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the company’s 
management of its material business risks 
Recommendation 7.3 Board has disclosed whether it has received assurance from the chief executive officer (or 
equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of 
the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is 
operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks 
 

Disclosure 
Principal 7 has not been complied with as the Group does not have a published risk management policy.  A Board 
member is responsible for the day to day management of the Group and communicates directly with the other Board 
members, this ensures that any potential risk to the Group is dealt with immediately. 
 

Access to Independent Professional Advice 
The Group has a policy that each Director may seek independent legal and other professional advice at the Group’s 
expense concerning any aspect of the Group’s operations or undertakings in order to fulfil their duties and 
responsibilities as Directors. The prior approval of the Chairman is required, which must not be unreasonably withheld, 
before incurring the expense. 
 

Principle 8 Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly 
Recommendation 8 .1 The Board has established a remuneration committee 
Recommendation 8.2 The remuneration committee is structured so that it consists of a majority of independent 
directors, is chaired by an independent chair, and has at least three members 
 

Disclosure 
Principal 8 has not fully been complied with as the Group has not established a remuneration committee.   
 

Recommendation 8.3 Entity clearly distinguishes the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration from that of 
executive directors and senior executives 
 

Disclosure 
The Directors’ salaries are set out in the Directors’ Report and published annually.  The Group’s administrative activities 
are carried out by contractors under instruction from the Board.  Commercial rates are paid.  Work performed by 
Director controlled entities is at commercial rates and disclosed annually.  The Group’s executives are paid a salary 
commensurate with their experience and market conditions. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
Principle 8 Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly continued 
Recommendation 8.3 Entity clearly distinguishes the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration from that of 
executive directors and senior executives continued 
 

Disclosure continued 
The Board consists of only three members, performance evaluation by a remuneration committee is thus inappropriate.  
The Board evaluates its own performance on the success of the Group on a yearly basis.  The Chairman evaluates the 
performance of the other Board members annually to assess their suitability and also to ensure that additional Directors 
are not required.  The shareholders also have the right and are given the opportunity to question the Board members 
formally at meetings or informally by direct contact. 
 
Departure from Best Practice Recommendations 
From 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013, the Company complied with each of the Eight Essential Corporate 
Governance Principles and Best Practice Recommendations published by the ASX Corporate Governance Council, other 
than the recommendations specified in the table below.  
 
Recommendation Notification of Departure Explanation from Departure 

2.4 The Board has not established a 
nomination committee. 

The whole Board carries out the duties which would 
otherwise be undertaken by the nomination committee. 
The need for a nomination committee will be reviewed 
annually. 

3.2 & 3.3 The Board has not established a 
policy concerning diversity. 

Due to the small size of the Group, a Diversity Policy has 
not yet been introduced. The need for a diversity policy 
will be reviewed annually. 

4.1, 4.2 & 4.3 The Board has not established 
an audit committee. 

The whole Board carries out the duties which would 
otherwise be undertaken by an audit committee. The 
need for an audit committee and formal charter will be 
reviewed annually. 

7.1 & 7.2 The Board has not established a 
risk management policy. 

Risk management is dealt with on a daily basis by 
management and communicated directly to the Board. 
The need for a risk management policy will be reviewed 
annually. 

8.1 & 8.2 The Board has not established a 
remuneration committee. 

The whole Board carries out the duties which would 
otherwise be undertaken by the remuneration 
committee. The need for a remuneration committee will 
be reviewed annually. 
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Declaration of Independence 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Directors’ Declaration 
 

The Directors of the Company declare that, in the opinion of the Directors: 
 
(a) The attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 
(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the consolidated entity; and 
 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 

professional reporting requirements. 
 
(b) The financial statements and notes thereto also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards, as 

disclosed in Note 1 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements. 
 
(c) The Directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
(d) There are reasonable grounds to believe that Reward Minerals Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when 

they become due and payable. 
 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Dated this 31st day of March 2014 
 

 
Michael Ruane 
Director  
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
  Consolidated Entity 

  

Note 

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

Continuing Operations    

Revenue  2 82,239 181,147 
Other income 2 - 2,955 

    
  82,239 184,102 

    
Depreciation  (78,036) (8,135) 
Audit fees  (36,074) (33,867) 
Consulting fees  (56,107) (27,166) 
Exploration expenses 3 (95,738) (1,594) 
Share based payment 27(c) - (225,000) 
Finance costs 22(b) (57,534) - 
Legal expense  (49,525) (1,600) 
Employee benefits expense  (251,755) (391,299) 
Administration expenses  (189,243) (215,177) 
Impairment of assets  - - 

    
Loss from continuing operations before income tax  (731,773) (719,736) 

    
Income tax benefit  5 - - 

    
Loss from continuing operations for the year  (731,773) (719,736) 

    
Other Comprehensive Income for the year  - - 
    

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  - - 

    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  - - 

    

Total Comprehensive Loss Attributable to Members of Reward Minerals Ltd  (731,773) (719,736) 

    
    
Loss per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company:    
Basic and diluted loss per share 15 (0.90) cents (0.98) cents 
 
 

The above Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.  
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2013 

 

  Consolidated Entity 

  

Note 

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

    

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 6 3,855,598 2,885,108 

Trade and other receivables 7 84,256 72,246 

    

Total Current Assets  3,939,854 2,957,354 

    

Non-Current Assets    

Other   2,000 2,000 

Property, plant and equipment 8 403,539 233,988 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 9 941,126 10,896,641 

Mine development expenditure 10 13,645,113 - 

    

Total Non-Current Assets  14,991,778 11,132,629 

    

Total Assets  18,931,632 14,089,983 

    

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 11 245,431 434,133 

Borrowings 12 1,019,299 - 

    

Total Current Liabilities  1,264,730 434,133 

    

Total Liabilities  1,264,730 434,133 

    

Net Assets  17,666,902 13,655,850 

    

Equity    

Contributed equity 13(a) 20,081,290 15,568,465 

Reserves 14(b) 10,287,346 10,057,346 

Accumulated losses 14(a) (12,701,734) (11,969,961) 

    

Total Equity  17,666,902 13,655,850 

    

 
The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
 

Consolidated Entity 
Contributed 

Equity 
 

Share-Based 
Payment 
Reserve 

 
Accumulated 

Losses 
 Total Equity 

 $  $  $  $ 
        
Balance at 1 January 2012 15,143,465  7,031,416  (11,250,225)  10,924,656 
        
Comprehensive income for the year        
Loss for the year -  -  (719,736)  (719,736) 

        
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year -  -  (719,736)  (719,736) 

        
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:        

        
Share issue 425,000  -  -  425,000 
Cost of share issue -  -  -  - 
Options issued  -  3,025,930  -  3,025,930 

        
Balance at 31 December 2012 15,568,465  10,057,346  (11,969,961)  13,655,850 

        
        
        
Balance at 1 January 2013 15,568,465  10,057,346  (11,969,961)  13,655,850 
        
Comprehensive income for the year        
Loss for the year -  -  (731,773)  (731,773) 
        

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year -  -  (731,773)  (731,773) 

        
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:        
        
Share issue 4,936,639  -  -  4,936,639 
Cost of share issue (423,814)  -  -  (423,814) 
Options issued  -  230,000  -  230,000 

        
Balance at 31 December 2013 20,081,290  10,287,346  (12,701,734)  17,666,902 

        

 
The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
 

  Consolidated Entity 

  

Note 

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

    

Cash Flows from Operating Activities    

Receipts from customers  - - 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (875,407) (799,054) 

Interest received  82,239 181,147 

    

Net Cash Used In Operating Activities 18(b) (793,168) (617,907) 

    

Cash Flows from Investing Activities    

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (247,587) (216,076) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation expenditure  (2,268,143) (814,804) 

Payments for mine development  (1,482,736) - 

    

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities  (3,998,466) (1,030,880) 

    

Cash Flows from Financing Activities    

Proceeds from share issue  4,936,639 425,000 

Share issue costs  (193,814) - 

Proceeds from borrowings 22(b) 1,212,287 - 

Repayment of borrowings 22(b) (192,988) - 

    

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities  5,762,124 425,000 

    

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Cash Held  970,490 (1,223,787) 

    

Cash and Cash Equivalent at the Beginning of the Financial Year  2,885,108 4,108,895 

    

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year 18(a) 3,855,598 2,885,108 

 
 

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Reporting Entity 
This financial report of Reward Minerals Ltd (‘the Company’) for the year ended 31 December 2013 comprises the 
Company and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as ‘the consolidated entity’ or ‘Group’).  Reward Minerals Ltd is a 
company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities 
Exchange.  The financial report was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of Directors dated 28 March 
2014. 
 
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the consolidated entity in the preparation of 
the financial statements. 
 
1a Basis of Preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Australian Accounting 
Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001.  Reward Minerals Ltd is a for-profit entity for the purposes of preparing 
the financial statements. 
 
Compliance with IFRSs 
The financial statements of Reward Minerals Ltd also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).   
 
New Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
 
(i) AASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2010) and AASB 2010–7: Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010). 
 

These Standards are applicable retrospectively and include revised requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial instruments, as well as recognition and derecognition requirements for financial 
instruments.  
 
The key changes made to accounting requirements include: 

 simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and those carried at 
fair value; 

 simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives; 
 removing the tainting rules associated with held-to-maturity assets; 
 removing the requirements to separate and fair value embedded derivatives for financial assets carried at 

amortised cost; 
 allowing an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on investments in equity 

instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive income. Dividends in respect of these 
investments that are a return on investment can be recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment 
or recycling on disposal of the instrument; 

 requiring financial assets to be reclassified where there is a change in an entity’s business model as they 
are initially classified based on: (a) the objective of the entity’s business model for managing the financial 
assets; and (b) the characteristics of the contractual cash flows; and 

 requiring an entity that chooses to measure a financial liability at fair value to present the portion of the 
change in its fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk in other comprehensive income, 
except when that would create an accounting mismatch. If such a mismatch would be created or enlarged, 
the entity is required to present all changes in fair value (including the effects of changes in the credit risk 
of the liability) in profit or loss. 

 
These Standards were mandatorily applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 
2013. However, AASB 2012–6: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of 
AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures (issued September 2012) defers the mandatory application date of AASB 9 from 
1 January 2013 to 1 January 2015. In light of the change to the mandatory effective date, the Group is expected to 
adopt AASB 9 and AASB 2010–7 for the annual reporting period ending 31 December 2015. Although the directors 
anticipate that the adoption of AASB 9 and AASB 2010–7 may have a significant impact on the Group’s financial 
instruments, it is impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable estimate of such impact. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
1a Basis of Preparation continued 
(ii) AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11: Joint Arrangements, AASB 12: Disclosure of Interests in 

Other Entities, AASB 127: Separate Financial Statements (August 2011) and AASB 128: Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures (August 2011) (as amended by AASB 2012–10: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments), and AASB 2011–7: Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards (applicable for annual 
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

 
AASB 10 replaces parts of AASB 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (March 2008, as amended) 
and Interpretation 112: Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.  AASB 10 provides a revised definition of “control” 
and additional application guidance so that a single control model will apply to all investees. This Standard is not 
expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 

 
(iii) AASB 11 replaces AASB 131: Interests in Joint Ventures (July 2004, as amended). AASB 11 requires joint 

arrangements to be classified as either “joint operations” (where the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities) or “joint ventures” (where the parties that 
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement). 
 

(iv) AASB 12 contains the disclosure requirements applicable to entities that hold an interest in a subsidiary, joint 
venture, joint operation or associate. AASB 12 also introduces the concept of a “structured entity”, replacing the 
“special purpose entity” concept currently used in Interpretation 112, and requires specific disclosures in respect of 
any investments in unconsolidated structured entities. This Standard will affect disclosures only and is not 
expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements.  
 
To facilitate the application of AASBs 10, 11 and 12, revised versions of AASB 127 and AASB 128 have also been 
issued. The revisions made to AASB 127 and AASB 128 are not expected to significantly impact the Group’s 
financial statements. 

 
(v) AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011–8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 

from AASB 13 (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 
 

AASB 13 defines fair value, sets out in a single Standard a framework for measuring fair value, and requires 
disclosures about fair value measurement. 
 
AASB 13 requires: 

 inputs to all fair value measurements to be categorised in accordance with a fair value hierarchy; and 
 enhanced disclosures regarding all assets and liabilities (including, but not limited to, financial assets and 

financial liabilities) to be measured at fair value. 
 

These Standards are expected to result in more detailed fair value disclosures, but are not expected to significantly 
impact the amounts recognised in the Group’s financial statements. 

 
(vi) AASB 2011–4: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management Personnel 

Disclosure Requirements (applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013). 
 

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures to remove the individual key 
management personnel disclosure requirements. These amendments serve a number of purposes, including 
furthering trans-Tasman convergence, removing differences from IFRSs, and avoiding any potential confusion with 
the equivalent Corporations Act 2001 disclosure requirements. 
 
This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial report as a whole because: 

 some of the disclosures removed from AASB 124 will continue to be required under s 300A of the 
Corporations Act, which is applicable to the Group; and 

 AASB 2011–4 does not affect the related party disclosure requirements in AASB 124 applicable to all 
reporting entities, and some of these requirements require similar disclosures to those removed by AASB 
2011–4. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
1a Basis of Preparation continued 
(vii) AASB 119: Employee Benefits (September 2011) and AASB 2011–10: Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013). 
These Standards introduce a number of changes to the presentation and disclosure of defined benefit plans, 
including: 

 removal of the “corridor” approach from AASB 119, thereby requiring entities to recognise all changes in a 
net defined benefit liability/(asset) when they occur; and 

 disaggregation of changes in a net defined benefit liability/(asset) into service cost, net interest expense 
and remeasurements and recognition of: 
(i) service cost and net interest expense in profit or loss; and 
(ii) remeasurements in other comprehensive income. 

 
AASB 119 (September 2011) also includes changes to the criteria for determining when termination benefits 
should be recognised as an obligation. 
 
The Group does not have any defined benefit plans and so is not impacted by the amendment. 
 

(viii) AASB 2012–2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 
 
AASB 2012–2 principally amends AASB 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures to require entities to include 
information that will enable users of their financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting 
arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with the entity’s recognised financial assets and recognised 
financial liabilities, on the entity’s financial position. 
 
This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 

 
(ix) AASB 2012–3:  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 

Liabilities (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014). 
 

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132: Financial Instruments: Presentation to address potential 
inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria of AASB 132, including clarifying the meaning of 
“currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement systems may be considered 
equivalent to net settlement. 
 
This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 

 
(x) AASB 2012–5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009–2011 

(applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 
 
This Standard amends a number of Australian Accounting Standards as a consequence of the issuance of Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2009–2011 Cycle by the International Accounting Standards Board, including: 

 AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards to clarify the requirements in respect of 
the application of AASB 1 when an entity discontinues and then resumes applying Australian Accounting 
Standards; 

 AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 134: Interim Financial Reporting to clarify the 
requirements for presenting comparative information; 

 AASB 116: Property, Plant and Equipment to clarify the accounting treatment of spare parts, stand-by 
equipment and servicing equipment; 

 AASB 132 and Interpretation 2: Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments to 
clarify the accounting treatment of any tax effect of a distribution to holders of equity instruments; and 

 AASB 134 to facilitate consistency between the measures of total assets and liabilities an entity reports 
for its segments in its interim and annual financial statements. 

 
This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
1a Basis of Preparation continued 
Historical Cost Convention 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
available-for-sale financial assets. 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.  It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements are disclosed in Note 26. 
 

None of the new standards and amendments to standards that are mandatory for the first time for the financial year 
beginning 1 July 2012 affected any of the amounts recognised in the current period or any prior period and are not likely to 
affect future periods. However, amendments made to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements effective 1 July 
2012 now require the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income to show the items of comprehensive 
income grouped into those that are not permitted to be classified to profit or loss in a future period and those that may 
have to be reclassified if certain conditions are met. 

 
1b Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Reward Minerals Ltd and its controlled 
entity, Holocene Pty Ltd.  Control exists where the consolidated entity has the capacity to dominate the decision-making 
in relation to the financial and operating policies of another entity so that the other entity operates with the consolidated 
entity to achieve the objectives of the consolidated entity.  All inter-company balances and transactions between entities 
in the consolidated entity, including any unrealised profits and losses have been eliminated on consolidation.  
 
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of the consolidated entities are shown separately in the consolidated 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income and consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
respectively. 
 
Where control of an entity is obtained during a financial year, its results are included in the consolidated Statement of 
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income from the date on which control commences. Where control ceases, de-
consolidation occurs from that date.  
 
Investments in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method.  Under 
this method, the consolidated entity’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates is recognised in the 
consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, and its share of post-acquisition 
movements in reserves is recognised in consolidated reserves.  The cumulative post-acquisition movements are 
adjusted against the cost of the investment.  Associates are those entities over which the economic entity exercises 
significant influence, but not control. Investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost less impairment losses.  
 
Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining 
the financial statements of all the entities that comprise the consolidated entity, being Reward Minerals Ltd (“Company” 
or “Parent Entity”) and its subsidiaries as defined in AASB 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 
Consistent accounting policies are employed in the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements.   
 
The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each subsidiary from the date on which the 
Company obtains control and until such time as the Company ceases to control such entity. Acquisitions of entities are 
accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.  In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-
company balances and transactions, income and expenses and profit and losses resulting from intra-group transactions 
are eliminated in full.  Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the financial report of Reward Minerals 
Ltd. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
1b Principles of Consolidation continued 
Associates 
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding between 20% and 50% of voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for in the 
parent financial statements using the cost method and in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method 
after initially being recognised at cost.  
 

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates is recognised in the consolidated Statements of 
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised 
in consolidated reserves.  The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the cost of the investment.  
Associates are those entities over which the economic entity exercises significant influence, but not control. 
 

When the consolidated entity’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including 
any other unsecured long term receivables, the consolidated entity does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.  
 

Unrealised gains on transactions between the consolidated entity and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
consolidated entity’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
All intra-group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.   
 

Changes in ownership interests 
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with 
equity owners of the Group.  A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of 
the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interest in the subsidiary.  Any differences between 
the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a 
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of Reward Minerals Ltd.  
 
When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.  The fair value is the initial 
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, jointly controlled 
entity or financial asset.  In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of 
that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.  This may mean that 
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
1c Income Tax 
The consolidated entity adopts the liability method of tax-effect accounting whereby the income tax expense is based on 
the profit adjusted for any non-assessable or disallowed items. 
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  No deferred 
income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, 
where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or liability is 
settled.  Deferred tax is credited in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income except where it 
relates to items that may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available against 
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption that no 
adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the consolidated entity will derive 
sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility 
imposed by the law. 



 
 

REWARD MINERALS LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2013 

35 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
1c Income Tax continued 
Reward Minerals Ltd and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiary have not formed an income tax consolidated Group 
under the Tax Consolidation Regime.  
 
1d Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Amounts disclosed as revenue are net 
of returns, trade allowances and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.  Revenue is recognised for major business 
activities as follows: 
 
(i) Interest Income 
 Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to the 

financial assets. 
 
(ii) Other Services 
 Other debtors are recognised at the amount receivable and are due for settlement within 30 days from the end of 

the month in which services were provided. 
 
1e Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. These 
costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful development 
of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage which permits reasonable assessment of the 
economically recoverable reserves. 
 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against operating results in the year in which 
the decision to abandon the area is made.  When production commences the accumulated costs for the relevant area of 
interest are classified as development costs and amortised over the life of the project area according to the rate of 
depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 
 
Where independent valuations of areas of interest have been obtained, these are brought to account.  Subsequent 
expenditure on re-valued areas of interest is accounted for in accordance with the above principles.  A regular review is 
undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to 
that area of interest. 
 
At 31 December 2013 the Directors considered that the carrying value of the mineral tenement interests of the 
consolidated entity was as shown in the Statement of Financial Position and no further impairments arises other than 
that already recognised. 
 
1f Mine Development 
Development expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the company is accumulated separately for each area of interest in 
which economically recoverable resources have been identified.  Such expenditure comprises costs directly attributable 
to the construction of a mine, the related infrastructure and capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 
transferred from capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure account. 
 
Amortisation is charged using the units-of-production method, with separate calculations being made for each area of 
interest.  The units-of-production basis results in a depreciation charge proportional to the depletion of proved and 
probable reserves. 
 
Mine properties are tested for impairment in accordance with the policy in note 1(o). 
 
Costs of site restoration are provided for over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and are included 
in the costs from that stage.  Site restoration costs include obligations relating to dismantling and removing mining 
plant, reclamation, waste dump rehabilitation and other costs associated with restoration and rehabilitation of the site.  
Such costs have been determined using estimates of the future costs and current legal requirements and technology, 
discounted to present value.  Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted for on a prospective basis. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
1g Plant and Equipment 
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. 
 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the consolidated entity and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by the Directors to ensure it is not in excess of the 
recoverable amount from these assets.  The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows 
that will be received from the assets’ employment and subsequent disposal.  The expected net cash flows have been 
discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts. 
 

Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all plant and equipment is depreciated on a diminishing value over their useful lives to the 
consolidated entity commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 
 

Class of Fixed Asset   Depreciation Rate 
Plant and Equipment   10-30% 
 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.  An 
asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount. 
 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  These gains and losses 
are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the 
revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. 
 
1h Trade Receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less allowance for 
doubtful debts.  Trade receivables are due for settlement no more than 30 days from the date of recognition. 
 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts that are known to be uncollectible are written 
off.  An allowance for bad debts is established when there is objective evidence that the consolidated entity will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.  The amount of the provision is recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. They are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised 
cost.  
 
Deposits with maturity periods in excess of three months but less than twelve months are included in receivables and 
not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
 
1i Trade and Other Payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid, together with assets ordered before the end of the financial year.  The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
 
1j Employee Entitlements 
(i) Wages, salaries and annual and sick leave 
 A liability for wages, salaries and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date is 

recognised in other payables and is measured as the amount unpaid at balance date at current pay rates in 
respect of employees’ services up to that date.  No liability exists for sick leave. 

 

(ii) Long service leave 
 A liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and is measured as the 

present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees’ up to 
balance date.   
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
1k Equity-Based Payments 
Equity-based compensation benefits are provided to Directors and executives. 
 

The fair value of options granted to Directors and executives is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a 
corresponding increase in contributed equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period 
during which the Directors and/or executives becomes unconditionally entitled to the options. Where options are issued 
to consultants the fair value of the options given is valued by the market value of the service being provided. 
 

The fair value at grant date is independently determined using an option pricing model that takes into account the 
exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable 
nature of the option, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected 
divided yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. 
 

1l Earnings per share 
(i) Basic earnings per share 
 Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the company, 

excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the 
year. 

 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 
 Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 

account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation 
to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 
1m Segment Reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the steering committee that makes strategic 
decisions. 
 
The standard requires a ‘management approach’, under which segment information is presented on the same basis as 
that used for internal reporting purposes.The segments are reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal 
reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.  
 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other 
components.  All operating segments’ operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s Managing Director to 
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete 
financial information is available. 
 
Segment results that are reported to the Managing Director include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the 
Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities. 
 
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment, and 
intangible assets other than goodwill. 

 
1n Business Combinations 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations. Consideration is measured at the 
fair value of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group on acquisition date. 
Consideration also includes the acquisition date fair values of any contingent consideration arrangements, any pre-
existing equity interests in the acquiree and share-based payment awards of the acquiree that are required to be 
replaced in a business combination. The acquisition date is the date on which the Group obtains control of the acquiree. 
Where equity instruments are issued as part of the consideration, the value of the equity instruments is their published 
market price at the acquisition date unless, in rare circumstances it can be demonstrated that the published price at 
acquisition date is not fair value and that other evidence and valuation methods provide a more reliable measure of fair 
value. 
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1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
1n Business Combinations continued 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations are, with limited 
exceptions, initially measured at their fair values at acquisition date. Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration 
transferred and the amount of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree over fair value of the identifiable net assets 
acquired. If the consideration and non-controlling interest of the acquiree is less than the fair value of the net identifiable 
assets acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss as a bargain purchase price, but only after a reassessment 
of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired. 
 
For each business combination, the Group measures non-controlling interests at either fair value or at the non-
controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. 
 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed when incurred. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are 
recognised directly in equity. 
 
Where the Group obtains control of a subsidiary that was previously accounted for as an equity accounted investment in 
associate or jointly controlled entity, the Group remeasures its previously held equity interest in the acquiree at its 
acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

Assets and liabilities from business combinations involving entities or businesses under common control are accounted 
for at the carrying amounts recognised in the Group's controlling shareholder's consolidated financial statements. 
 

Major changes include:  
 -  Contingent consideration classified as debt is remeasured through profit or loss instead of adjusting the purchase 

consideration (goodwill).  
 -  Acquisition-related costs are expensed immediately, rather than being included as part of the purchase 

consideration. Non-controlling interests can be measured on an acquisition by acquisition basis at either fair 
value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. 

-  If the Group recognises deferred tax assets after the initial accounting is complete, there will be no adjustment to 
goodwill and this will result in increased profits in the period when these deferred tax assets are recognised.  

-  Any intangible asset recognised on a business combination is amortised.   
 
1o Impairment of Assets 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.  Assets 
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). 
 

1p Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are 
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position. 
 

1q Investments and Other Financial Assets 
The consolidated entity classifies its investments as available-for-sale financial assets and other financial assets. The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.  Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date. 
 

Available-for-sale Financial Assets 
These comprise listed equity securities.  They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose 
of the investment within 12 months of the reporting date. 
 

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of non monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity in the 
available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve. When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, 
the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
as gains and losses from investment securities.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
1q Investments and Other Financial Assets continued 

Other Financial Assets 
These comprise investments in subsidiaries.  Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade-date on 
which the consolidated entity commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value 
plus transaction costs. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or have been transferred and the consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership. 
 
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and 
for unlisted securities), the consolidated entity establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include 
reference to the fair values of recent arm’s length transactions, involving the same instruments or other instruments 
that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and pricing models to reflect the issuer’s specific 
circumstances. 
 

The consolidated entity assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or Group 
of financial assets has been impaired.  In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered in determining whether the security is 
impaired.  If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in profit and loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income.  Impairment losses recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income on equity instruments are not reversed through the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income. 
 
1r Fair Value Estimation 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes. The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using 
valuation techniques. The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are 
assumed to approximate their fair values. 
 
1s Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has 
been reliably estimated. 
 
1t GST 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense. 
 
Receivables and payables are stated as inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the Statement of 
Financial Position. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flow. 
 
1u Contributed Equity 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options, or for the 
acquisition of a business, are included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration. 
 
If the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, e.g. as the result of a share buy-back, those instruments are 
deducted from equity and the associated shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and the consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income 
taxes) is recognised directly in equity.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
1v Comparative Figure 
When required by accounting standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation 
for the current financial year. 

  Consolidated Entity 

  2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

2 REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS     

Interest income  82,239 181,147 

Other income  - 2,955 

    
  82,239 184,102 

    

3 LOSS FOR THE YEAR    

Rental expense on operating leases  38,827 45,481 
Interest expense on financial liabilities – related parties  57,534 - 
Exploration expenditure not capitalised  95,738 1,594 
    

4 SEGMENT INFORMATION 
Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board that are used to make 
strategic decisions. 
 
The Board considers that reportable segments are defined by the nature of the exploration activities. 
 
During the year, the Group considers that it has only operated in one segment, being Potash mineral exploration within 
Australia. 

 Potash Total 
2013 $ $ 
Revenue - - 
Exploration expenditure (95,738) (95,738) 

   
Loss before income tax (95,738) (95,738) 
   
Total Segment Assets 14,586,239 14,586,239 

   
2012   
Revenue - - 

Exploration expenditure (1,594) (1,594) 

   
Loss before income tax (1,594) (1,594) 
   
Total Segment Assets 10,896,641 10,896,641 

   
 Consolidated Entity 
 2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 
(a) Segment revenue 
Segment revenue reconciles to revenue from continuing operations as follows: 

  

Segment revenue - - 
Interest revenue 82,239 181,147 
Other revenue - 2,955 

  
Revenue from Continuing Operations 

 
82,239 

 
184,102 
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4 SEGMENT INFORMATION continued 

 Consolidated Entity 
 2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 
(b) Segment loss   

Segment loss reconciles to total comprehensive income as follows:   
Segment Loss before Income Tax (95,738) (1,594) 
Interest revenue 82,239 181,147 
Unallocated costs net of other revenue (718,274) (899,289) 

 
Loss before Income Tax 

 
(731,773) 

 
(719,736) 

   
(c) Segment Assets    

Segment assets reconcile to total assets as follows:   
Segment assets 14,586,239 10,896,641 
Unallocated assets 4,345,393 3,193,342 

 
Total Assets 

 
18,931,632 

 
14,089,983 

 

(d)  Segment Liabilities 
The Group’s liabilities are not reported to management on an individual segment basis, but rather reported on a 
consolidated basis. 

   

5 INCOME TAX EXPENSE    

(a)  Income tax expense    
Current tax  - - 
Deferred tax  - - 

    
  - - 

    
(b) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable:   
Loss before income tax   (731,773) (719,736) 

    
Prima facie income tax at 30% (2012: 30%)  (219,532) (215,921) 
Tax-effect of exploration expenditure claimed  (1,106,880)  
Other timing differences  (4,990) 43,570 
Permanent differences  (10,571) 67,980 
    
Tax loss not recognised  1,341,973 104,371 

    
Income tax expense/(benefit)  - - 

    
(c) Unrecognised temporary differences    
Deferred tax assets and liabilities (at 30%) not recognised relate to the following:   

Deferred tax assets  - - 
Tax losses  7,364,725 5,931,339 
Deferred tax liabilities - Capitalised exploration expenditure  (4,375,872) (3,268,992) 
Other temporary differences  22,731 30,041 

    
Net Deferred Tax Assets / (Liabilities)  3,011,584 2,692,388 
 

The deferred tax assets arising from these balances have not been recognised as an asset because recovery of tax 
losses is not probable at this point in time. 
 

The potential tax benefit will only be obtained if the relevant company derives future assessable income of a nature and 
an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised; and 
 

i. the relevant company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the law; and 

ii. no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the relevant company in realising the benefit.  
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    Consolidated Entity 
    2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 

6 CURRENT ASSETS – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    

Cash at bank  3,855,598 335,108 

Term deposit  - 2,550,000 

    
  3,855,598 2,885,108 

 
Refer to Note 25 for Financial Risk considerations. 

 

7 CURRENT ASSETS – TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES    

Prepayments  8,743 8,985 
GST assets  74,248 56,682 
Accrued interest  - 5,439 
Trade and other receivables  1,265 1,140 
    
  84,256 72,246 

 
No receivables are impaired or past due but not impaired. Refer to Note 25 for Financial Risk considerations.  The 
carrying value of all receivables approximates their fair value.  
 

8 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Plant and equipment at cost  547,411 299,824 
Less provision for depreciation  (143,872) (65,836) 

    
  403,539 233,988 

    
Reconciliations:    
Plant and Equipment    
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  233,988 26,047 
Additions  247,587 216,076 
Depreciation  (78,036) (8,135) 

    
Carrying amount at the end of the year  403,539 233,988 

    

9 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION 
 EXPENDITURE 

Mining tenements at cost   941,126 10,896,641 

    
  941,126 10,896,641 

    
Tenements    
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  10,896,641 7,093,639 
Additions  2,165,850 1,961,602 
Additions – share based payments  - 1,841,400 
Transfer to mine development expenditure (12,121,365) - 

    

Carrying amount at the end of the year  941,126 10,896,641 

 
The future realisation of these non-current assets is dependent on the granting of native title rights and obtaining 
funding necessary to commercialise the resources or realisation through sale.   
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  Consolidated Entity 
  2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 

10 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – MINE DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE   

Mine development expenditure at beginning of year - - 
Mine development expenditure capitalised during the year 1,523,748 - 
Transfer from exploration and evaluation expenditure 12,121,365  

   
Carrying amount at the end of the year 13,645,113 - 

    

11 CURRENT LIABILITIES – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES    

Trade Payables  207,623 234,427 
Accrued Expenses  37,808 199,706 
    
  245,431 434,133 

 

12 CURRENT LIABILITIES – BORROWINGS 
Loan from Director (Refer Note 22b) 1,019,299 - 

   
 1,019,299 - 

    

13 CONTRIBUTED EQUITY    

13a Share capital    
At the beginning of the financial year  15,568,465 15,143,465 
Shares issued during the year  4,936,639 - 
Share issue costs  (423,814) - 
Options exercised during the year  - 425,000 
    
At the End of the Financial Year  20,081,290 15,568,465 

    
  2013 

No. Shares 
2012 

No. Shares 
At the beginning of the financial year  73,808,996 72,958,996 
Shares issued during the year  24,683,193 850,000 
    
At the End of the Financial Year  98,492,189 73,808,996 

 
13b Terms and Condition of Contributed Equity 
Ordinary Shares 
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the company, to 
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on 
shares held.  Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the 
Company. 
  2013 

Options 
2012 

Options 

13c Movement in Options    

Balance at beginning of year  12,150,000 8,000,000 

Options issued during the year  14,341,548 - 

Options to be issued to WDLAC but accounted for in the year  - 4,500,000 

Options issued to Directors or employees during the year  - 500,000 

Options Options exercised during the year  - (850,000) 
    

Balance at End of Year  26,491,548 12,150,000 
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13 CONTRIBUTED EQUITY continued 

Closing balance is represented as follows: 
Nature Expiry Date Exercise Price 

of Options 
2013 

Options 
2012 

Options 

Directors options 31 August 2014 $0.50 2,150,000 2,150,000 
Azure – Tranche 1 5 January 2016 $0.45 3,000,000 3,000,000 
Azure – Tranche 2 10 October 2016 $0.45 2,000,000 2,000,000 
Employee options (Refer Note 27(b)) 8 October 2015 $1.09 500,000 500,000 
WDLAC Options     28 February 2017 $0.50 4,500,000 4,500,000 
Options issued during the year 30 June 2016 $0.25 14,341,548 - 

   26,491,548 12,150,000 

 
13d Capital Risk Management 

   

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they 
can continue to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new shares, pay dividends or return to capital 
to shareholders.   
 

Capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the Statement of Financial Position, and is monitored on the basis of funding 
exploration activities. 

  Consolidated Entity 

  
 

2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

14 RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSSES    

14a Accumulated Losses    

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the year  (11,969,961) (11,250,225) 

Net loss for the year  (731,773) (719,736) 

    

Accumulated Losses at the end of the year  (12,701,734) (11,969,961) 

    

14b Reserves    

Share-Based Payments Reserve    

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued. 
 

Balance at beginning of the year  10,057,346 7,031,416 

Fair value of options issued during the year or about to be issued:    

- for exploration and evaluation expenditure  - 2,800,930 

- for employee benefits expense  - 225,000 

- for capital raising costs (refer Note 27(a))  230,000 - 

    

Balance at the End of the Year  10,287,346 10,057,346 

    

  2013 
Cents Per Share 

2012 
Cents Per Share 

15 (LOSS) PER SHARE    

Basic loss per share:  (0.90) (0.98) 

    

The loss for the year and the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic loss per 
share are as follows: 
  2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 
Loss for the year after income tax  (731,773) (719,736) 
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15 (LOSS) PER SHARE continued  2013 

No. 
2012 
No. 

 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per 
share 

 
 

81,653,518 

 
 

73,586,256 

 

  Consolidated Entity 

  
 

2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

16 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS    

Remuneration for audit or review of the financial reports of the Group:    
For auditing the financial statements  36,074 33,866 

    
  36,074 33,866 

No non-audit services have been provided to the Group by the auditor.    

 

17 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 
17a Details of Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
Short-term benefits 405,804 422,654 
Post-employment benefits 34,637 50,347 
Share based payment - 225,000 

   
 440,441 698,001 

 
Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on pages 13 - 15. 
 
17b Key Management Personnel Interests in the Shares and Options of the Company 
Options 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Key Management 
Personnel of Reward Minerals Ltd including their personally related parties are set out below: 
 

2013 
Balance at 
start of the 

year 

Issued as 
remuneration 

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Issued during 
the year 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year 
Directors       
C McCavana 750,000 - - 38,332 788,332 788,332 
M Ruane - - - 4,413,695 4,413,695 4,413,695 
R Della Vedova - - - - - - 
C Van Heyst 650,000 - (150,000) - 500,000 * 500,000 
W Brooks 750,000 - - - 750,000 * 750,000 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

      

D Tenardi 500,000 - -  500,000 500,000 

 2,650,000 - (150,000) 4,452,027 6,952,027 6,952,027 

 
* Represents balance held at date of resignation. 
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17 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES continued 
17b Key Management Personnel Interests in the Shares and Options of the Company continued 

2012 
Balance at 
start of the 

year 

Issued as 
remuneration 

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Issued 
during the 

year 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

Vested and 
exercisable 
at the end 
of the year 

Directors       
C McCavana 750,000 - - - 750,000 750,000 
M Ruane 750,000 - (750,000) - - - 
C Van Heyst 750,000 - (100,000) - 650,000 650,000 
W Brooks 750,000 - - - 750,000 750,000 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

      

D Tenardi - 500,000 - - 500,000 500,000 

 3,000,000 500,000 (850,000) - 2,650,000 2,650,000 

 
Shares 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Key Management Personnel of Reward 
Minerals Ltd, including their personally related parties, are set out below.  There were no shares granted as 
compensation during the year. 
 

2013 
Balance at the 

start of the year 

Received during the 
year on the exercise 

of options 
Shares issued 

Balance at the 
end of the year 

Directors     
C McCavana 230,000 - 76,665 306,665 
M Ruane 20,312,039 - 15,425,764 35,737,803 
R Della Vedova - - 20,000 20,000 
C Van Heyst 969,006 - - 969,006 * 
W Brooks 3,522,051 - - 3,522,051 * 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

    

D Tenardi - - - - 

 25,033,096 - 15,522,429 40,555,525 

 
* Represents balance held at date of resignation. 
 

2012 
Balance at the 

start of the year 

Received during the 
year on the exercise 

of options 

Other changes 
during the year 

Balance at the 
end of the year 

Directors     
C McCavana 230,000 - - 230,000 
M Ruane 18,303,131 750,000 1,258,908 20,312,039 
C Van Heyst 869,006 100,000 - 969,006 
W Brooks  3,522,051 - - 3,522,051 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

    

D Tenardi - - - - 

 22,924,188 850,000 1,258,908 25,033,096 

 
See note 22 for information on other transactions with Key Management Personnel and related parties. 
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 Consolidated Entity 

2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

18 NOTES TO STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

18a Reconciliation of Cash 
For the purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand 
and in banks and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts.  Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the 
Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of 
Financial Position as follows: 

  

Cash and short term deposits 3,855,598 2,885,108 

    
18b Reconciliation of Net Cash used In Operating Activities to 

Operating Loss after Income Tax 
  

Loss for the year (731,773) (719,736) 
Share based payments to employees - 225,000 
Depreciation 78,036 8,135 
Impairment of assets/exploration costs expensed included in investing activities - (1,359) 
 
Change in assets and liabilities during the financial year:   

Receivables (12,010) 397,091 
Payables (127,421) (527,038) 

    
Net cash outflow from operating activities (793,168) (617,907) 

 

19 FINANCE FACILITIES 
No credit standby facility arrangement or loan facilities existed at 31 December 2013. 
 

20 COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE 
20a Mining Agreements 
Upon making a Decision to Mine on the Lake Disappointment Potash Project, the Company will issue 3.0 million options 
to WDLAC as per the 2011 Mining and Indigenous Land Use Agreement. In addition, the Company notes that a further 
7.5 million options will be issued upon commencement of mining as per the above agreement. All options issued to 
WLDAC have an exercise price of $0.50 and will expire four years from the date of issue.  
 
Per the 2011 Mining and Indigenous Land Use Agreement in regards to the Lake Disappointment Potash Project, the 
Company is committed to reimburse the WDLAC for Martu law and culture matters in the sum of $300,000 per year for 
the first five years, and after that when mining is occurring.  
 

21 EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER REPORTING DATE 
On 26 February 2014, the Company completed a placement of 10,416,666 ordinary shares at 48 cents per share to raise 
$5,000,000 for working capital. 
 
There have been no other events subsequent to reporting date.  
 

22 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
22a Directors Remuneration  
Details of Directors remuneration are disclosed in Note 17 to the Financial Statements.  
 
22b Other Transactions with Director Related Entities  
During the year, the Company’s Managing Director, Michael Ruane, loaned funds to the Company. The loan is unsecured 
for the period of 12 months, carrying an interest rate of 7.5% interest payable quarterly in arrears. Total interest payable 
on the loan for the year ended 31 December 2013 is $57,534. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
22 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES continued 
22b Other Transactions with Director Related Entities continued 
Movements for the year are as follows: 
 Consolidated Entity 

2013 2012 
 Note $ $ 
Opening balance  - - 
Funds received  1,212,287 - 
Funds repaid  (192,988) - 

    
Closing balance  1,019,299 - 

 
There were no other transactions with Directors or Director related entities during the year. 
 
22c Aggregate Amount Payable to Directors and their Director Related Entities at Balance Date  
Current liabilities    

Accrued interest  13,356 - 
Borrowings 12 1,019,299 - 

 
 

  
1,032,655 

 
- 

 

23 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
Upon commencement of mining of the Lake Disappointment Potash Project, the Company is liable to pay WDLAC 
$500,000 as per the December 2011 Mining and Indigenous Land Use Agreement.  
 
There are no other contingent liabilities at reporting date. 
 

24 INVESTMENT IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
   Equity Holding 
 

Name of Entity 
Country of 

Incorporation 
 

Class of Shares 
2013 

% 
2012 

% 

Holocene Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 

 

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The consolidated entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash 
flow interest rate risk. The consolidated entity's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the consolidated 
entity. 
 
The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed in the 
accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 
 Consolidated Entity 

2013 2012 
Financial Assets Note $ $ 
Cash and cash equivalents 6 3,855,598 2,885,108 
Loans and receivables 7 84,256 72,246 
    
Total Financial Assets  3,939,854 2,957,354 
    

Financial Liabilities    
Financial liabilities at amortised cost    

Trade and other payables 11 245,431 434,133 
Borrowings 12 1,019,299 - 

    
Total Financial Liabilities  1,264,730 434,133 
 

Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors, who identify, evaluate and manage financial risks as they 
consider appropriate.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued 
25a Market Risk 
 (i)  Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk 

Refer to (d) below. 
 

25b Credit Risk 
The Group does not have any significant concentrations of credit risk.  Credit risk is managed by the Board and arises 
from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposure including outstanding receivables and committed 
transactions. 
 

All cash balances held at banks are held at internationally recognised institutions. The majority of receivables are 
immaterial to the Group.  Given this, the credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due or impaired can be 
assessed by reference to historical information about default rates.  The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting 
date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as summarised at the start of Note 25. 
 

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external 
credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates.  Financial assets that are neither 
past due and not impaired are as follows: 
 Consolidated Entity 

2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents   

‘AA’ S&P rating 3,855,598 2,885,108 
 

25c Liquidity Risk 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and, the availability of 
funding through the ability to raise further equity or through related party entities. Due to the dynamic nature of the 
underlying businesses, the Board aims at maintaining flexibility in funding through management of its cash resources.  
The Group has no financial liabilities at the year-end other than normal trade and other payables incurred in the general 
course of business.  All financial liabilities mature in less than 6 months. 
 

25d Cash Flow Risk 
As the Group has significant interest-bearing assets in the form of cash, the Group's income and operating cash flows 
are exposed to changes in market interest rates.   
 

Based on the year-end balances, a 1% increase in interest rates (projected increase in cash rate for 2013 calendar year, 
applied for a full financial year, would have reduced the consolidated loss by $38,556 (2012: Loss $28,851) and increased 
the cash balances by a corresponding amount.  There were no other amounts included in Net Assets subject to material 
interest rate risks. 
 

26 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
i) Significant accounting judgements 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements: 

 

Capitalisation of exploration and evaluation expenditure 
The Group has capitalised significant exploration and evaluation expenditure on the basis either that this is 
expected to be recouped through future successful development (or alternatively sale) of the Areas of Interest 
concerned or on the basis that it is not yet possible to assess whether it will be recouped.  As at 31 December 
2013, the carrying value of capitalised exploration expenditure is $941,126. 

 

ii) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 
 The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often based on estimates and assumptions of future 

events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
26 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS continued 

ii) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions continued 
Impairment of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 

 The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of 
factors, including whether the Group decides to exploit the related lease itself or, if not, whether it successfully 
recovers the related exploration and evaluation asset through sale. 
 
Factors that could impact the future recoverability include the level of reserves and resources, future 
technological changes, costs of drilling and production, production rates, future legal changes (including changes 
to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices. 

 
 Valuation of share based payments 

The Group measures the cost of equity settled share based payments at fair value at the grant date using the 
Black-Scholes model taking into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the 
share price at grant date, the expected volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and risk free 
interest rate for the term of the option. 
 
Where options are issued to consultants, the Group values the service provided based on market rates. In the 
absence of market rates the share based payments are valued as above.  
 

27 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
27a 2013 Options Issued for Services Rendered – Year ended 31 December 2013 
During the year ended 31 December 2013, share issue costs were satisfied by the issue of 2,000,000 options in the 
Group. 
 
The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted was 11.5 cents per option. The fair value at grant date is 
independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the 
term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying 
share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option. 
 
The model inputs for these options granted included: 
(a)  Exercise price: $0.25 
(b)  Grant date: 18 July 2013  
(c)  Expiry date: 30 June 2016 
(d)  Share price at grant date: $0.20 
(e)  Expected price volatility of the company’s shares: 80% - 120% 
(f)  Expected dividend yield: 0% 
(g)  Risk-free interest rate: 2.5% 
 
The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for 
any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information. 

 
27b Employee Option Plan – Year ended 31 December 2012 
On 10 October 2012 Daniel Tenardi, an employee of Reward Minerals Ltd was granted 500,000 unlisted options as part 
of his employment agreement.  The table below sets out details of this option issue: 
 

Issue Date 
Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price 

Balance 
at start of 

year 

Granted 
during the 

year 

Issued 
during 

the year 

Forfeited 
during the 

year 

Balance 
at the 
end of 

the year 

Vested and 
exercisable 
at the end 
of the year 

10 October 
2012 

8 October 
2015 

$1.09 - 500,000 500,000 - 500,000 500,000 

 
The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the year ended 31 December 2012 was 45 cents per 
option.  The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes 
into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected 
price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the 
option. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
27  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS continued 
27b Employee Option Plan – Year ended 31 December 2012 continued 
The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 31 December 2012 included: 
  

(a)  Exercise price:  $1.09 
(b)  Grant date:  10 October 2012 
(c) Vesting date: 10 October  2012 
(d)  Expiry date:  8 October 2015 
(e)  Share price at grant date:  $0.82 
(f)  Expected price volatility of the company’s shares:  95% 
(g)  Expected dividend yield:  0% 
(h)  Risk-free interest rate:  2.76% 
 

27c Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions 
Accounting entries arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the year are as follows: 
 Consolidated Entity 

2013 2012 

 $ $ 
Expense in the year   
Share options issued to Employees  - 225,000 
 

Capitalised share issue costs 
  

Share options issued to consultants 230,000 - 
   
Capitalised as exploration expenditure   
Opening balance 7,058,785 4,257,855 
Options to be issued to WDLAC - 3,480,571 
Adjustment to options issued to Azure - (679,641) 
   
Total options issued for capitalised exploration expenditure 7,058,785 7,058,785 
 

28 PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES  
a) Summary Financial Information 
  Parent 

Financial Position 
 2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 
Assets    
Current assets  16,291,615 11,654,446 
Non-current assets  286,106 87,049 

    

Total assets  16,577,721 11,741,495 

    
Liabilities    
Current liabilities  1,132,305 335,049 

    
Total liabilities  1,132,305 335,049 

    
Equity    
Issued capital  20,081,289 15,568,464 
Reserves  3,228,560 2,998,560 
Accumulated losses  (7,864,433) (7,160,578) 

    
Total equity  15,445,416 11,406,446 

   
Financial Performance   
Loss for the year  (703,855) (723,513) 
Other comprehensive income  - - 

    
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (703,855) (723,513) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
28 PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES continued  
 
b)  Guarantees 
Reward Minerals Ltd has not entered into any guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiary. 
 
c)  Other Commitments and Contingencies 
Reward Minerals Ltd has no commitments to acquire property, plant and equipment. Refer to Note 23 for the 
Company’s contingent liabilities. 
 

29 COMPANY DETAILS 
The registered office of the Company is: 
 
Reward Minerals Limited 
159 Stirling Highway 
NEDLANDS  WA  6009 
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Shareholder Information  
Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report is as 
follows. The information is current at 24 March 2014.  
 

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS 
Spread of Holdings 

Number of 
Holders Number of Shares 

Percentage of 
Issued Capital 

1 - 1,000 223 97,626 0.09% 
1,001 - 5,000 418 1,220,426 1.14% 
5,001 - 10,000 201 1,608,805 1.50% 
10,001 - 100,000 408 13,903,429 12.95% 
100,001 - and over 141 90,570,237 84.33% 

 1,391 107,400,523 100% 

    
There were 225 holders of ordinary shares holding less than a marketable parcel. 

Substantial Shareholders  Number of Shares 
Percentage of 
Issued Capital 

Tyson Resources Ltd  15,109,409 14.07% 
Kesli Chemicals Ltd  11,418,308 10.63% 
Intermin Resources Ltd  7,629,257 7.10% 

    

DISTRIBUTION OF OPTIONHOLDERS 
Spread of Holdings 

Number of 
Holders 

Number of Listed 
Options 

Percentage of 
Issued Capital 

1 - 1,000 61 27,363 0.19% 
1,001 - 5,000 51 126,140 0.88% 
5,001 - 10,000 22 163,304 1.14% 
10,001 - 100,000 64 2,324,759 16.21% 
100,001 - and over 25 11,699,982 81.58% 

 223 14,341,548 100% 

 

UNQUOTED SECURITIES 

Class 
Number of Unquoted 

Securities Holders with more than 20% 

Options over ordinary shares exercisable at  
$0.45 on or before 10 October 2016 2,000,000 

Azure Capital Investments Pty Ltd 
– 100% 

Options over ordinary shares exercisable at  
$0.45 on or before 5 January 2016 3,000,000 

Azure Capital Investments Pty Ltd 
– 100% 

Options over ordinary shares exercisable at  
$0.50 on or before 28 February 2017 4,500,000 

Martu Mining Services Pty Ltd – 
100% 

 

Directors and Employee Options 

Class 
Number of Unquoted 

Securities Number of Holders 

Directors Options over ordinary shares exercisable 
at $0.50 on or before 31 August 2014 2,150,000 6 
Employee Options over ordinary shares 
exercisable at $1.09 on or before 8 October 2015 500,000 1 
 

On-Market Buy Back  
There is no current on-market buy back.  
  

Voting Rights  
All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction.  
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Shareholder Information  
 

 
Top Twenty Shareholders - RWD 

Number of Ordinary 
Shares Held % 

1 Tyson Resources Pty Ltd 15,109,409 14.07 

2 Kesli Chemicals Pty Ltd <Ruane Super Fund A/C> 11,418,308 10.63 

3 Intermin Resources Ltd 7,629,257 7.10 

4 Bill Brooks Pty Ltd <Bill Brooks Super Fund A/C> 3,522,051 3.28 

5 UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 3,119,913 2.90 

6 Franway Pty Ltd <Kennedy Family Super Fund A/C> 3,000,000 2.79 

7 Hillboi Nominees Pty Ltd 2,161,141 2.01 

8 Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 1,675,409 1.56 

9 RPM Super Pty Ltd <RPM Super Fund A/C> 1,250,000 1.16 

10 Bell Potter Nominees Ltd <BB Nominees A/C> 1,208,333 1.13 

11 Spar Nominees Pty Ltd 1,165,000 1.08 

12 Kesli Chemicals Pty Ltd 1,055,740 0.98 

13 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Ltd 1,041,666 0.97 

14 GR Cunnold and LC Groves <Stratford A/C> 1,000,000 0.93 

15 Perth Investment Corporation Ltd 820,000 0.76 

16 Warawong Pty Ltd <Warawong Super Fund A/C> 803,333 0.75 

17 Gregory Rolland Cunnold 800,000 0.74 

18 Sheraton Trial Pty Ltd <Bartlett Super Fund A/C> 800,000 0.74 

19 Brett McKenzie 800,000 0.74 

20 Mercator Capital Services Pty Ltd <Mercator Super Fund A/C> 780,426 0.73 

  59,159,986 55.05 
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Shareholder Information  
 

 
Top Twenty Optionholders - RWDO 

Number of Listed 
Options Held % 

1 Blackswan Group Pty Ltd <The Blackswan A/C> 2,000,000 13.95 

2 Tyson Resources Pty Ltd 1,838,676 12.82 

3 Kesli Chemicals Pty Ltd <Ruane Super Fund A/C> 1,379,693 9.62 

4 Intermin Resources Ltd 953,657 6.65 

5 Hillboi Nominees Pty Ltd 942,500 6.57 

6 Perth Investment Corporation Ltd 625,000 4.36 

7 RPM Super Pty Ltd <RPM Super Fund A/C> 625,000 4.36 

8 Spar Nominees Pty Ltd 375,000 2.61 

9 
Mr Nicholas Crispin Lyons & Mrs Kerrie Maree Lyons <Geronimo 
Super Fund A/C> 

250,000 1.74 

10 Franway Pty Ltd <Kennedy Family Super Fund A/C> 250,000 1.74 

11 RM Company Pty Ltd <R MacGregor Investment A/C> 250,000 1.74 

12 Gavin Caudle 250,000 1.74 

13 Joseph Wills 244,226 1.70 

14 UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 215,831 1.50 

15 Mercator Capital Services Pty Ltd <Mercator Super Fund A/C> 213,850 1.49 

16 Gargamel Nominees Pty Ltd 150,000 1.05 

17 Mr Edward Keith Hawkins & Mrs Barbara Jean Hawkins 141,666 0.99 

18 Walloon Securities Pty Ltd 137,500 0.96 

19 Kesli Chemicals Pty Ltd 131,967 0.92 

20 Deering Nominees Pty Ltd 125,000 0.87 

  11,099,566 77.38 
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